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COMPLAINT

Plaintiff, the U.S. Securities and Exchange Commission ("Commission"), files

this Complaint against Brion Randall and 2Randall Consulting Group, LLC, defendants,

and would respectfully show the Court as follows:

SUMMARY

1. Since at least 2007, Brion Randall, individually and through 2Randall

Consulting Group, LLC, has operated an advisory program in which clients were

purportedly placed through a master account in an AllianceBemstein, LP,

("AllianceBemstein") mutual fund with high minimum balance requirements and offered

investors the opportunity to pool funds through 2Randall for investment in a small

business loan participation program. Randall emphasized the safety of investments in the

AllianceBemstein account and promised investors that he would aggregate their funds in

sub-accounts under 2Randall's master account at the firm. He solicited investments in

the pooled loan program by emphasizing the loans' high retums. At least six investors
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transferred approximately $3 million to Randall and 2Randall with the understanding that

Brion Randall would invest the money for them.

2. Randall misrepresented his intended use of the investors' funds. Neither

2Randall nor Brion Randall has an account with AllianceBemstein. Notwithstanding the

foregoing, Randall prepared account statements'for his'investors specifically showing the

value of 2Randall' s account with AllianceBemstein as well as the investor's purported

"sub-account." In addition to the bogus AllianceBemstein account statements, Randall

provided investors with other documents to cover up his fraudulent scheme, including

Forms 1099 reflecting interest earned on their investments. Randall's offerings are

ongoing, as are his continuing breaches of his duties as an investment adviser.

3. The Commission, in the interest of protecting investors from any further

illegal activity, brings this action against the defendants seeking temporary, preliminary

and permanent injunctive relief, disgorgement of all illicit profits and benefits defendants

have received plus accrued prejudgment interest, civil monetary penalties and other

emergency and equitable relief.

JURISDICTION AND VENUE

4. This Court has jurisdiction over this action pursuant to § 22(a) of the

Securities Act of 1933 (the "Securities Act"), § 27 of the Securities Exchange Act of

1934 ("Exchange Act") and § 214 of the Investment Advisers Act of 1940 ("Advisers

Act"). Defendants, directly and indirectly, made use of the mails and of the means and

instrumentalities of interstate commerce in connection with the acts, practices and

courses of business described in this Complaint. Venue is proper because certain of the
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transactions, acts, practices and courses of business described below occurred within the

jurisdiction of the Northern District of Texas.

PARTIES

5. Brion G. Randall ("Randall"), age 47, of Plano, Texas, was a registered

representative holding Series 7, 31,- 63 and 65 licenses, and all investment adviser

registered with the Texas State Securities Board ("TSSB"). Randall is a managing

member of 2Randall. In 2005, after he had left the financial services industry, FINRA

suspended Randall for 4 months and fined him $10,000 for improperly exercising

discretion in customer accounts without prior written permission. He is not currently

registered with the TSSB or FINRA, and has never registered with the Commission in

any capacity.

6. 2Randall Consulting Group, LLC, a Texas Limited Liability Company

formed in September 2005, is located in Plano, Texas. 2Randall currently is not in good

standing with the Texas Comptroller of Public Accounts due to failure to pay taxes.

2Randall is not registered with the Commission or the state as an investment adviser.

2Randall's website lists Randall as a principal and co-founder.

BACKGROUND FACTS

7. Brion Randall persuaded at least six investors to engage him and 2Randall

as an investment adviser to manage their investments. Randall used 2Randall's website

to publicize services and promote his investment expertise, particularly in non-traditional

investment strategies that he claimed outperform traditional ones. 2Randall' s website

states that the firm looks for short-term investments in private ventures with varying

degrees of risk but that its long term assets are safe and secure. It also claims that the
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firm "specialize[s] in developing comprehensive strategies utilizing proprietary models to

address each partner's specific goals and objectives" and further states "when our clients

succeed, we have done our job." 2Randall's website also touts Randall's expertise. It

describes Brion Randall's background in banking and as a financial advisor at a large

brokerage firm, where he supposediy received numerous awards, honors, and accolades

as one of the firm's top producers. There is no mention, however, ofthe fact that FINRA

suspended Randall for 4 months and fined him $10,000 for improperly exercising

discretion' in customer accounts without prior written permission.

8. From 2007 through at least early 2009, Randall solicited clients to invest

In an AllianceBernstein fund that he told investors required a $5 million minimum

balance. Randall told prospective investors that 2Randall had a master account at

AllianceBernstein, under which investors held sub-accounts totaling tens of millions of

dollars. He represented to his clients that he placed each investor's money into a separate

sub-account and claimed that this structure gave smaller investors access to high returns

in the AllianceBernstein fund. Randall told his clients that they would be investing in a

tax-exempt, municipal bond fund with an effective yield of approximately 6%. To

induce clients to allow him to manage their funds, Randall emphasized to investors that

AllianceBernstein was a respected firm and their invested principal and returns would be

safe. In at least one instance, in September 2008, Brion Randall persuaded an investor to

sell other securities and invest the proceeds through 2Randall. Randall convinced the

investor that her money would be much safer at AllianceBernstein because the stock

market did not affect bond values.
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9. Randall convinced at least six investors to place $3 million with him and

2Randall to invest in the AllianceBernstein "master account." In reality, no such master

account exists.

10. Randall also offered investors a "loan participation program." He told

investors that 2Randall would search for, evaluate, select, and fund appropriate short-

term small business loans to reputable area businesses. Often, investors elected to "roll-

over" their investments into new loans. Randall is currently, and as recently as July 21,

2009, continuing to solicit investors to participate in the loan participation program.

11. On July 21, 2009, Randall solicited and obtained from an investor

$100,000, which he said was to be used for a loan to 84 Lumber under a Small Business

Administration ("SBA") loan program. After the investor learned a few days later that

2Randall's AllianceBernstein master account did not exist, she repeatedly attempted to

get her money back, but Randall has failed to respond to her requests.

12. To facilitate the fraud and to prevent his investors from learning the truth

about his use and disposition of the investors' funds, Randall has engaged in, and persists

in, an ongoing pattern of providing false information to his advisory clients. Randall and

2Randall lulled investors with false account statements and other information

misrepresenting that their investments were legitimate and profitable. Randall provided

investors periodic statements purportedly showing the principal and earnings in their

2Randall accounts. The statements typically included positive announcements from

2Randall. For instance, in September 2008, 2Randall announced that, although the stock

market was down, "the total return for the 2Randall portfolio is annualizing just over
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6%." 2Randall further reassured investors that their investment was legitimate by

sending them Forms 1099 reflecting purported tax-exempt income from 2Randall.

13. Randall also used account statements and other information to entice new

investors. In one instance, an investor was provided account statements of an earlier

investor. in at least two other instances, Randall gave clients fabricated c~mputer

screenshots that purported to show an AllianceBemstein "Online Banking" account. The

screenshots showed an AllianceBemstein logo superimposed on what appeared to be an

online banking screen, complete with buttons for account details, bill pay, and similar

functions. Each screenshot purported to show a master account in the name of 2Randall;

one screenshot showed a $19.5 million account balance and the other reflected a $27

million balance. One of the screenshots identified Randall as the account manager. In

addition, one of the screenshots reflected the investor's two sub-accounts in the

AllianceBemstein fund and "the loan participation program" and listed accurate amounts

for the investments in each purported asset. These documents were forgeries-

AllianceBemstein does not have any record of the master or sub-accounts in question,

and it does not offer online banking services.

14. In July 2009, an investor who was updating her will asked Randall for

documentation from AllianceBemstein confirming her investment and the amount

invested. Randall initially provided only a purported master account number and sub-

account number. The investor, however, insisted on additional account documentation

for herself and a friend who also invested under 2Randall' s master account at

AllianceBemstein. Unknown to the investors, on July 21, 2009, Randall filled out

AllianceBemstein account-opening documents for both of the investors and induced an
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associate in the AllianceBemstein Dallas office to fax the documents to his office. On

July 22, 2009, Randall met with the two investors and gave them the account

documentation with an AllianceBemstein fax imprint in an attempt to prove to them that

their accounts existed. He also showed them a computer screen that displayed a

spreadsheet of investor names and amounts, and said that their names ~nd amounts were

on that spreadsheet. The investors subsequently visited AllianceBemstein's Dallas

office, where they learned that AllianceBemstein could not locate any accounts in their

names, Randall's or in the name of2Randall.

CLAIMS

FIRST CLAIM
Violations of Section 17(a) of the Securities Act

15. Plaintiff Commission repeats and incorporates paragraphs 1 through 14 of

this Complaint by reference as if set forth verbatim.

16. Defendants, directly or indirectly, singly, in concert with others, in the

offer and sale of securities, by use of the means and instruments of transportation and

communication in interstate commerce and by use of the mails, have: (a) employed

devices, schemes or artifices to defraud; (b) obtained money or property by means of

untrue statements of material fact or omissions to state material facts necessary in order

to make the statements made, in light of the circumstances under which they were made,

not misleading; and (c) engaged in transactions, practices or courses of business which

operate or would operate as a fraud or deceit.

17. As part of and in furtherance of this scheme, defendants, directly and

indirectly, prepared, disseminated or used contracts, written offering documents,

promotional materials, investor and other correspondence, and oral presentations, which

SEC v. Brion Randall, et al.
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contained untrue statements of material fact and which omitted to state material facts

necessary in order to make the statements made, in light of the circumstances under

which they were made, not misleading, including, but not limited to, those statements and

omissions set forth in paragraph 1 through 14 above.

18. Defendants made the above-referenced misrep;esentations and omissions

knowingly or with severe recklessness with regard for the truth. Defendants were also

negligent in their actions regarding the representations and omissions alleged herein.

-
19. By reason of the foregoing, defendants violated, and unless enjoined, will

continue to violate Section 17(a) ofthe Securities Act [15 U.S.C. § 77q(a)].

SECOND CLAIM
Violation of Section IOCb) of the Exchange Act and Rule IOb-5 thereunder

20. Plaintiff Commission repeats and incorporates paragraphs 1 through 14 of

this Complaint by reference as if set forth verbatim.

21. Defendants, directly or indirectly, singly or in concert with others, in

connection with the purchase and sale of securities, by use of the means and

instrumentalities of interstate commerce and by use of the mails have: (a)employed

devices, schemes and artifices to defraud; (b) made untrue statements of material facts

and omitted to state material facts necessary in order to make the statements made, in

light of the circumstances under which they were made, not misleading; and (c) engaged

in acts, practices and courses of business which operate as a fraud and deceit upon

purchasers, prospective purchasers and other persons.

22. As a part of and in furtherance of their scheme, defendants, directly and

indirectly, prepared, disseminated or used contracts, written offering documents,

promotional materials, investor and other correspondence, and oral presentations, which

SEC v. Brion Randall, et al.
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contained untrue statements of material facts and misrepresentations of material facts,

and which omitted to state material facts necessary in order to make the statements made,

in light of the circumstances under which they were made, not misleading, including, but

not limited to, those set forth in Paragraphs 1 through 14 above.

23. Defendants made the above-referen;ed misrepresentations and omissions

knowingly or with severe recklessness regarding the truth.

24. By reason of the foregoing, defendants violated and, unless enjoined, will

continue to violate the provisions of Section lOeb) of the Exchange Act [15 U.S.C. §

78j(b)] and Rule IOb-5 thereunder [17 C.F.R. § 240.IOb-5].

THIRD CLAIM
Violations of Sections 206(1) and 206(2) of the Advisers Act

25. Plaintiff Commission repeats and incorporates paragraphs 1 through 14 of

this Complaint by reference as if set forth verbatim.

26. Defendants, as investment advisers, used the mails and means or

instrumentalities of interstate commerce, directly and indirectly: 1) to employ devices,

schemes or artifices to defraud clients or prospective clients; or 2) to engage in

transactions, practices and courses of business which operated as a fraud or deceit upon

clients and prospective clients.

27. By reason of the foregoing, defendants violated and, unless enjoined, will

continue to violate the provisions of Sections 206(1) and 206(2) of the Investment

Advisers Act [15 U.S.C. § 80b - 6(1), (2)].

RELIEF REQUESTED

The Commission seeks the following relief:
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28. Orders of the Court temporarily, preliminarily and permanently enjoining

the defendants, their agents, servants, employees, attorneys and all persons in active

concert or participation with them who receive actual notice of the injunction by personal

service or otherwise, and each of them, from future violations of Section 17(a) of the

Securities Act, [15 U.S.c. § 77q(a)], Section 10(b) the Exchange Act, [15 U.S.C. §

78j(b)], and of Rule 10b-5 [17 C.F.R. § 240.10b-5] thereunder and Sections 206(1) and

(2) ofthe Advisers Act.

-

29. An order of the Court directing defendants to disgorge an amount equal to

the funds and benefits obtained illegally as a result of the violations alleged, plus

prejudgment interest on that amount.

30. An order of the Court directing defendants, as appropriate, to pay civil

monetary penalties in an amount determined as appropriate by the Court pursuant to

Section 20(d) of the Securities Act [15 U.S.C. § 77t(d)], Section 21(d) of the Exchange

Act [15 U.S.C. § 78u(d)] and Section 209(e)(2) of the Investment Advisers Act [15

U.S.C. § 80b-9] for their violations ofthe federal securities laws as alleged herein.

31. All further relief as the Court may deem just and proper.

DATED: August 6, 2009
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Respectfully submitted,

H~.
Texas Bar No. 12487090
U.S. Securities and Exchange Commission
Burnett Plaza, Suite 1900
801 Cherry Street, Unit #18
Fort Worth, TX 76102-6882
(817) 978-6450
(817) 978-4927 (fax)
loftinh@sec.gov
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